No. 19-1349

JENNIFER MORRIS, individually and as the Administrator for the ESTATE OF DAULTON HOLLY, and JASON ALLAN HOLLY,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

VS.

PRETTY WOMEN, INC., d/b/a THE BEACH GIRLS, J.P. PARKING, INC., and JAMES E. PETRY,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE DAVID PORTER, JUDGE

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Tiffany R. Wunderlin DICELLO, LEVITT, & GUTZLER #AT0011262 P.O. Box 437 Platteville, WI 53818 Tel: (608) 778-3314 twunderlin@dicellolevitt.com R. Craig Oppel ALLBEE & BARCLAY, P.C. #AT0005972 115 East 2nd Street Muscatine, IA 52761-0092 Tel: (563) 263-1960 coppel@allbeelaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
STAT	remei	NT OF THE FACTS 1	1.		
ARG	UMEN	VT	l.		
I.	MOT	DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS [?] ION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FINDING			
	DEFE	ENDANTS OWED NO DUTY	1.		
	A.	Preservation of Error and Standard of Review	3.		
	B.	Defendants Owed Daulton Holly a Duty to Exercise Reasonable Care. The District Court's Analysis of Duty Is Contrary to <i>Thompson v. Kaczinwki</i> and <i>Hoyt v. Gutterz</i> Bowl & Lounge	5.		
	C.	Defendants Did Not Act With Reasonable Care) .		
	D.	The Foreseeable Risks Included that Daulton Holly Would Encounter an Intoxicated Driver Either Leaving or Coming to Beach Girls	5.		
CON	CLUS	ION	7.		
REQU	JEST	FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 4	8.		
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases	Page(s)
<i>Bank of the W. v. Kline</i> , 782 N.W.2d 453 (Iowa 2010).	
<i>Brody v. Ruby</i> , 267 N.W.2d 902 (Iowa 1978).	
Butler v. Hoover Nature Trail, Inc., 530 N.W.2d 85 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994).	
<i>Carey v. New Yorker of Worcester, Inc.</i> , 335 Mass. 450, 245 N.E.2d 420 (1969).	41.
<i>Clinkscales v. Nelson Sec., Inc.,</i> 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005).	
<i>Delgado v. Trax Bar & Grill</i> , 36 Cal.4 th 224, 30 Cal.Rpt.3d 145, 113 P.3d 1159 (2005)	22, 41.
Estate of Gottschalk v. Pomeroy Dev., Inc., 893 N.W.2d 579 (Iowa 2017).	
<i>In re Estate of Renwanz</i> , 561 N.W.2d 43 (1997).	
<i>Getson v. Edifice Lounge, Inc.</i> , 117 Ill.App.3d 707, 72 Ill.Dec. 826, 453 N.E.2d 131 (1983)	43.
<i>Hoyt v. Gutterz Bowl & Lounge, L.L.C.,</i> 829 N.W.2d 772 (2013).	passim.
<i>McIlravy v. N. River Ins.</i> , 653 N.W.2d 323 (Iowa 2002).	
Mulhern v. Catholic Health Initiatives, 799 N.W.2d 104 (Iowa 2011).	

<i>Peck v. Gerber</i> , 154 Or. 126, 59 P.2d 675 (1936)	
<i>Priewe v. Bartz</i> , 249 Minn. 488, 83 N.W.2d 116 (1957)	41.
<i>Regan v. Denbar, Inc.,</i> 514 N.W.2d 751 (Ct. App. 1994)	
Sain v. Cedar Rapids Cmty. Sch. Dis., 626 N.W.2d 115 (2001)	
<i>Stevens v. Iowa Newspapers, Inc.,</i> 728 N.W.2d 823 (2007).	
<i>Thompson v. Kaczinski</i> , 774 N.W.2d 772 (2013)	passim.
Van Fossen v. MidAmerican Energy Co., 777 N.W.2d 689 (Iowa 2009)	
<i>Virden v. Betts & Beer Constr. Co.,</i> 656 N.W.2d 805 (2003).	
<i>Walker v. State</i> , 801 N.W.2d 548 (Iowa 2011)	
Statutes and Rules	
Iowa Code § 710.7.	
Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(j)	
Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(p)	
Iowa. R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f).	9.

Other Authorities

Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical
& Emotional Harm § 3 cmt. c, at 30 (2010)
Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 7(b), at 77 (2010)
Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 7 cmt. j, at 82 (2010)
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 at 215
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 cmt. <i>b</i> , at 216
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 cmt. <i>e</i> , at 218 21, 37.
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 cmt. <i>f</i> , at 219 40.
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 29 cmt. <i>d</i> , at 496
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 29 cmt. <i>r</i> , at 511 45.
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 40 27, 29.
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 40 cmt. g at 42 30.
Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 40 cmt. h at 43

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FINDING DEFENDANTS OWED NO DUTY

AUTHORITIES

Bank of the W. v. Kline, 782 N.W.2d 453 (Iowa 2010).

Brody v. Ruby, 267 N.W.2d 902 (Iowa 1978).

Butler v. Hoover Nature Trail, Inc., 530 N.W.2d 85 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994).

Carey v. New Yorker of Worcester, Inc., 335 Mass. 450, 245 N.E.2d 420 (1969).

Clinkscales v. Nelson Sec., Inc., 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005).

Delgado v. Trax Bar & Grill, 36 Cal.4th 224, 30 Cal.Rpt.3d 145, 113 P.3d 1159 (2005).

Estate of Gottschalk v. Pomeroy Dev., Inc., 893 N.W.2d 579 (Iowa 2017).

In re Estate of Renwanz, 561 N.W.2d 43 (1997).

Getson v. Edifice Lounge, Inc., 117 Ill.App.3d 707, 72 Ill.Dec. 826, 453 N.E.2d 131 (1983).

Hoyt v. Gutterz Bowl & Lounge, L.L.C., 829 N.W.2d 772 (2013).

McIlravy v. N. River Ins., 653 N.W.2d 323 (Iowa 2002).

Mulhern v. Catholic Health Initiatives, 799 N.W.2d 104 (Iowa 2011).

Peck v. Gerber, 154 Or. 126, 59 P.2d 675 (1936).

Priewe v. Bartz, 249 Minn. 488, 83 N.W.2d 116 (1957).

Regan v. Denbar, Inc., 514 N.W.2d 751 (Ct. App. 1994).

Sain v. Cedar Rapids Cmty. Sch. Dis., 626 N.W.2d 115 (2001).

Stevens v. Iowa Newspapers, Inc., 728 N.W.2d 823 (2007).

Thompson v. Kaczinski, 774 N.W.2d 772 (2013).

Van Fossen v. MidAmerican Energy Co., 777 N.W.2d 689 (Iowa 2009).

Virden v. Betts & Beer Constr. Co., 656 N.W.2d 805 (2003).

Walker v. State, 801 N.W.2d 548 (Iowa 2011).

Statutes and Rules

Iowa Code § 710.7.

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(j).

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(p).

Iowa. R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f).

Other Authorities

Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 3 cmt. c, at 30 (2010).

Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 7(b), at 77 (2010).

Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 7 cmt. j, at 82 (2010).

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 at 215.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 cmt. *b*, at 216.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 cmt. *e*, at 218.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 19 cmt. *f*, at 219.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 29 cmt. *d*, at 496.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 29 cmt. *r*, at 511.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 29 cmt. *s*, at 511.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 40 cmt. g at 42.

Restatement (Third): Liability for Physical & Emotional Harm § 40 cmt. h at 43.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals as it involves the application of existing legal principles and issues appropriate for summary disposition. Iowa. R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f) (2017).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a personal injury and wrongful death case stemming from the death of Daulton Holly on August 14, 2015. (Petition; App, 7-15). On March 29, 2019, Defendants, Pretty Women, Inc., d/b/a The Beach Girls, J.P. Parking, Inc., and James E. Petry, (hereinafter collectively "the Defendants") filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and Supporting Brief alleging they were entitled to summary judgment based on lack of duty owed to Daulton Holly at the time of his death. (Motion for Summary Judgment; App. 491-493; Supporting Brief; App. 494-505). Plaintiff filed a timely Resistance to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on April 16, 2019 and a Supplemental Resistance on April 19, 2019. (Resistance; App. 506-529; Supplemental Resistance filed 4-19-19). Oral argument was conducted on May 24, 2019, with both parties presenting their arguments to the court. (5-24-19 Transcript of Oral Argument; App. 1066-1085). The District Court entered Summary Judgment for the Defendants on July 15, 2019 (7-15-19 Order; App. 1086-1094). Plaintiffs' filed a timely notice of appeal on August 13, 2019. (Notice of Appeal; App. 1095-1097).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

James Petry first opened a strip club at 6220 Raccoon River Drive in West Des Moines, Iowa in approximately 1993 under the corporate entity, Pretty Women, Inc. d/b/a The Doll House. (Defendants' Answers to Plaintiff's Interrogatories at IROG 15; App. 16-47). He later changed the name to The Beach Girls, but he does not recall the date of the change. (*Id.*). On September 15, 2004, the strip club business was assumed by JP Parking Inc. which is also owned by James Petry (*Id.*). James Petry has been the sole owner of each corporation owning and running the strip club at 6220 Raccoon River Drive. (*Id.*; Deposition of James Petry at 27:8-13; 36:13-37:2; App. 48-195). J&P Parking is still the business that Mr. Petry runs the strip club through. (Deposition of James Petry at 39:7-10; App. 48-195).

The strip club is located in a predominantly rural area at on the outskirts of West Des Moines, Iowa.



JP Parking Inc. has a liquor license and sells beer in one can, six can, or twelve can increments at the strip club. (Defendants Answers to Interrogatories at #18; App. 16-47; Liquor License filed 4-16-19 as Exhibit C). However, the strip club also advertises itself as a BYOB establishment, allowing patrons to bring in their own beer, wine, or wine coolers.¹ The strip club is open Sunday through Tuesday from 7 P.M. until 3 A.M. and Wednesday – Saturday from 7 P.M. until 4 A.M. (J&P Parking Business Hours, Fees, & Rules; App. 196). The strip club charges a cover fee for entrance into the establishment that varies depending on day of the week and the sex of the patron. (*Id.*).

The strip club has rules posted for its patrons. Those rules include:

- 1. Wristbands must be kept on at all times or you will be asked to purchase a new one or leave.
- 2. All coolers, purses, and handbags will be inspected before entering the premises.
- 3. No cameras are permitted on the premises.
- 4. We reserve the right to refuse admittance.
- 5. Anyone fighting will be asked to leave the premises.
- 6. Anyone caught touching the entertainers inappropriately or acting inappropriately will be asked to leave the premises.

(*Id*). Notably, the strip club claimed that it did not have a company safety manual or its equivalent. (Defendants' Responses to Plaintiffs' Requests for Production of Documents at #12; App. 197-204).

¹ See <u>https://www.beachgirlsbar.com</u>

As for security guards, Mr. Petry testified that he relies on his employee, Kenny Ford to recruit large muscular gentlemen that he knows from the gym to work security at the strip club. (Deposition of James Petry at 54:15-22; 55:14-23; 56:15-19; App. 48-195). Mr. Petry leaves the security guards qualifications and on the job training up to Mr. Ford's discretion. (*Id.* at 55:14-23; 57:9-11; App. 48-195). For example, the security guard on the night Daulton Holly was killed was Jeremiah Kraemer. (Deposition of Jeremiah Kraemer at pg. 5; App. 464-485). Mr. Petry testified he was unaware if Mr. Kraemer had any special training or licensing before he signed up to work at the strip club. (*Id.* at 72:15-18; App. 464-485). Mr. Petry also testified that there were no policies and procedures or specific training for security at the strip club. (*Id.* at 90:4-17; App. 464-485).

Mr. Petry testified that his staff is trained to call a cab when a patron requests one. (Deposition of James Petry at 110:13-15; App. 48-195). He does not train the staff to try and determine whether someone needs a cab based on their intoxication level. (*Id.* at 11:9-20; App. 48-195).

Q: Okay. Is – do they call for cabs if they – they believe someone is too intoxicated to drive, whether or not they ask for it or not?

A: It's not our policy to try and judge whether someone's had too much to drink.

(Id. at 11:4-8; App. 48-195).

James Petry testified that while the posted sign of rules says that they reserve the right to refuse admittance, he leaves it to the door attendant to make a judgment call on whether to admit someone into the gentleman's club. (Deposition of James Petry at pg. 49:16-50:23; App. 48-195). He testified that generally people will be refused admittance for being offensive to other patrons or otherwise having behavior issues. (*Id.* at 50:5-13; App. 48-195). As for rule 5, that anyone fighting will be asked to leave the premises, James Petry claimed that fights hardly happen at all at Beach Girls. (*Id.* at 50:24-51:15; App. 48-195).

Despite Mr. Petry's claims to safety at the strip club, in response to a FOIA request, the West Des Moines Police Department disclosed over 250 pages of police reports responding to calls at 6220 Raccoon River Drive for the five-year period between 2012 and 2018. (West Des Moines Police Department Reports for 6220 Raccoon River Drive; App. 205-463). The calls include several OWI arrests and other drunken driving crashes, both in the parking lot at Beach Girls and on the driveway between Beach Girls and

15

Raccoon River Drive, some resulting in property damage and some resulting in bodily injury. (*Id.*; App. 205-464).

On the night of August 22, 2015, a security guard at Beach Girls that night was aware that Daulton Holly and his co-worker, Jordan Wills arrived via taxi-cab at the strip club. (Deposition of Jeremiah Kraemer, at 7:15-8:3; App. 464-485). He observed that they brought beer with them to Beach Girls. (*Id.* at 9:18-10:1; App. 464-485). The security guard had been outside in front of the strip club smoking when they arrived in a taxicab and saw them arrive. (*Id.* at 7:15-8:3; App. 464-485). Later in the night, the same security guard became aware that Daulton Holly was from Tennessee because he was dropping his billfold and the security guard picked up his ID. (*Id.* at 7:15-8:3; App. 464-485).

The security guard believed that Daulton Holly was intoxicated because he was dropping his wallet, he had knocked some drinks off a table, and then he mistook the women's dressing room for the bathroom. (*Id.* at 7:15-8:3; App. 464-485). The security guard also observed that Daulton Holly had slurred speech and was staggering some when he walked. (*Id.* at 8:4-9:11; App. 464-485). The security guard stopped Daulton before he made it far into the dressing room and redirected him to the nearby door of the men's bathroom. (*Id.* at 10:24-11:13; App. 464-485). The security guard described the scene when he and another security

guard at Beach Girls decided to remove Daulton from inside the strip club as

follows:

- Q: Okay. And obviously you kicked him out, but I guess, was there a specific reason, or was it just a cumulative effect of how he was acting?
- A: Well, we didn't kick him out. We escorted him out.
- Q: Okay.
- A: We didn't even put our hands on him. Like I said, he knocked some drinks off a table. He continually dropped his wallet, at least three times, and then tried to go in the girls' dance room, by accident of course. I don't think it was intentional. And by that time I let him use the restroom. He came back out. I just – you can't babysit him all night long, so I asked him to come up front with me, and I was going up. I radioed to one of the other security guards to get his friend, because he came there with a gentleman.

So I got them outside, and I said, "Sorry bud. You've had too much to drink. I can't let you go back inside the club. You can't be drunk in the club. You're just having issues right now. I can't let you go back in." And during that process, his friend came out. I said, "Here's the deal. He's intox" – "he's had a little too much. <u>He just</u> <u>needs to go.</u> You need to get him a cab. I don't know what you want to do, but he can't go back inside. You guys need to figure something out here."

So then they were kind of going back and forth a little bit and kind of arguing. Not like loud arguing, but just arguing. And his buddy didn't want to leave, of course. So then he started walking off, and I told his buddy, "You need to try and get him a cab. <u>It's not safe for him to be walking out around here with dark clothes on.</u>" He continued to walk off, and his buddy said, "Well, he'll regret it tomorrow," and he walked back inside. And shortly after that is when he died.

(Deposition of Jeremiah Kraemer at pg. 12:2-13:20; App. 464-485) (emphasis supplied). During this altercation, Mr. Kraemer described Daulton Holly as "quite docile" and stated that Daulton did not become argumentative with him. (*Id.* at pg. 13:21-25; App. 464-485).

Mr. Kraemer described that part of his job duties was "to try to get customers home safely." (Deposition of Jeremiah Kraemer at pg. 18:18-23; App. 464-485). Regarding his job duties, Mr. Kraemer stated:

- A: [Patrons] do consume alcohol, <u>so it's actually my responsibility to</u> <u>make sure people get home safe, if possible</u>. But also, I can't detain people for no good reason, so if they want to leave, they can leave.
- Q: Okay. And if somebody doesn't want to call and get a cab, it's not necessarily your job to call one for them, is it?
- A. No, it is not. We always offer them. I mean, it's always an option, and we always prefer it, even when they're being, let's say less than agreeable.
- Q: Okay.
- A: We still try and get home somebody home safely.

(Id. at pg. 18:23-19:13; App. 464-485) (Emphasis supplied). Mr. Kraemer

described the conversation between Daulton Holly and Jordan Wills as

"bickering back and forth" and as "two friends arguing." (Deposition of

Jeremiah Kraemer at pg. 15:18-25; App. 464-485). He heard they were

arguing over leaving. Mr. Holly was told to leave but Jordan Wills wanted

to go back into the strip club. (*Id.* at pg. 15:18-16:13; App. 464-485). Importantly, Mr. Kraemer admitted that Mr. Holly did not have much of a choice about leaving because he could not go back inside. (*Id.* at pg. 15:4-7; App. 464-485).

During this time, Mr. Kraemer claims that he offered to get Daulton Holly a cab and then tried to talk Jordan Wills into calling a cab for Daulton because Mr. Kraemer knew they did not have a vehicle there in the parking lot. (*Id.* at pg. 19:14-19; App. 464-485). Mr. Kraemer claims that Daulton Holly refused the cab. (*Id.* at pg. 19:20-21; App. 464-485).

As Mr. Kraemer watched Daulton Holly walk down the driveway towards Raccoon River Drive. (*Id.* at pg. 18:4-17; App. 464-485). At that time Mr. Kraemer was aware of the dangers Daulton Holly was undertaking by walking away from Beach Girls on his own. Mr. Kraemer described that Raccoon River Drive near Beach Girls was a country road without very many streetlights. (*Id.* at pg. 19:22-20:2; App. 464-485). Mr. Kraemer also observed that Daulton Holly was wearing dark clothing, which he believed increased the danger of walking at night in the area. Mr. Kraemer stated:

Q: And Mr. Holly was dressed primarily all in black that night?

A: As far as I can remember, yes, all dark colors.

- Q: And given that this area is not very well lit, you obviously thought it was not real safe for him to be walking in that condition?
- A: Nope.

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