IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

CASE NO. 19-1349

---

JENNIFER MORRIS, Individually and as the Administrator for the  
ESTATE OF DAULTON HOLLY, and JASON ALLAN HOLLY,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

PRETTY WOMAN, INC., d/b/a THE BEACH GIRLS, J.P. PARKING,  
Inc., and JAME E. PETRY,

Defendants-Appellees.

---

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY

HON. DAVID PORTER, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

---

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

---

GREFE & SIDNEY, P.L.C.  
Adam Zenor AT0009698  
Sean M. Corpstein AT0012659  
500 E. Court Ave., Ste. 200  
Des Moines, IA 50309  
Phone: (515) 245-4300  
Fax: (515) 245-4452  
[azenor@grefesidney.com](mailto:azenor@grefesidney.com)

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE COURT REVIEWS SUMMARY JUDGMENT RULINGS FOR CORRECTION OF ERRORS AT LAW.**

#### *Scope and Standard of Review*

(The Defendant-Appellees agree the Plaintiff-Appellants preserved error only as to J.P. Parking d/b/a The Beach Girls as to Count II (premises liability) and Count III (loss of consortium) on appeal.)

Defendant-Appellants' argued in their Motion for Summary Judgment that (1) no liability existed as to J.P. Parking d/b/a The Beach Girls (or James Petry/Pretty Women, Inc.) based on the facts of the case and application of Iowa law, (2) no personal liability existed as to James Petry as he was an owner who perfected corporate requirements, and (3) no liability existed as to Pretty Women, Inc. as the corporation was defunct and no longer in operation at the time of the allegations in Plaintiffs' Petition. *See* Defendants' Memorandum of Authorities in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment *generally* (App. 494-505).

Plaintiffs did not resist the motion as to James Petry or Pretty Women, Inc. *See* Plaintiffs’ Resistance to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment – filed 4-16-19 (App. 506-529). Plaintiffs’ made no mention of personal liability as to James Petry or how Pretty Women, Inc., a defunct corporation, could be held liable for the allegations within the Petition. *Id.* The District Court’s grant of summary judgment as to J.P. Parking d/b/a The Beach Girls, James Petry, and Pretty Women, Inc. dismissed all claims against these parties. *See* District Court Order on Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment – filed 7-15-19 (App. 1086-1094). Plaintiff-Appellants’ notice of appeal purports to challenge “all adverse rulings and orders inhering therein” of the District Court’s July 15, 2019 Order.

However, within Plaintiff-Appellants’ Proof Brief, filed October 14, 2019, Plaintiff-Appellants fail to argue or cite any authority providing for personal liability of James Petry or liability for the defunct corporation, Pretty Women, Inc. *See State v. Adney*, 639 N.W.2d 246, 250 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001) (“When a party, in an appellate brief, fails to state, argue, or cite to authority in support of an issue, the issue may be deemed waived.”)

(citing Iowa R. App. P. 14(a)(3); *Pierce v. Staley*, 587 N.W.2d 484, 486 (Iowa 1998)).

Here, any arguments concerning liability as to James Petry or liability for the defunct Pretty, Women, Inc. are waived.

The Court reviews “summary judgment rulings for correction of errors at law.” *Deeds v. City of Marion*, 914 N.W.2d 330, 339 (Iowa 2018). Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Hills Bank & Tr. Co. v. Converse*, 772 N.W.2d 764, 771 (Iowa 2009).

**II. DAULTON HOLLY DIED 30 MINUTES AFTER DECLINING A CAB, VOLUNTARILY WALKING OFF JP PARKING’S PREMISES, WALKING HALF A MILE AWAY, LAYING IN THE MIDDLE OF A ROADWAY, AND BEING IMPACTED BY A VEHICLE DRIVEN BY MR. RONALD HAUSER, AN INTOXICATED INDIVIDUAL.**

Plaintiff-Appellants fail to acknowledge critical facts in their Statement of Facts section, totaling over 10 pages in length and at the District Court level, Plaintiff-Appellants failed to dispute any material facts pled by Defendant-Appellees.

**A. The facts are straightforward and undisputed.**

The following facts are material, undisputed, dispositive in the case at hand, and are completely omitted from Plaintiffs-Appellants' Proof Brief.

- D. Holly was asked to leave the premises for violating the rules of conduct. *See* Surveillance Video (App. 1104); *see also* Kraemer Depo 7:4-8:3, 10:24-11:9, 12:9-13:25 (App. 470-71, 473-74, 475-76).
- J.P. Parking employees offered to call D. Holly a cab who declined—twice. *See* Kraemer Depo 19:14-21 (App. 482).
- D. Holly raised his middle finger towards his friend, Wills, and walked off when J.P. Parking employees suggested Wills take Holly home. *See* Kraemer Depo 16:14-22 (App. 479).
- D. Holly was uninjured when he exited J.P. Parking's premises. *See* Kraemer Depo 9:7-9:13:9-20, 16:14-22, 17:7-13, 18:4-13 (App. 472, 479, 480, 481); *see also* Petition (App. 7-14).
- D. Holly travelled about a half mile down the road. *See* Weatherall Depo 16:5-7, 30:2-8 (App. 1108, 1109); Countryman Depo 4:5-22 (App. 1112).

- D. Holly then laid down in the middle of the roadway. *See* SUMF 19, 20 (App. 1101).
- Hauser, who was intoxicated, drove his vehicle over D. Holly. *See* Hauser Depo 86:3-17 (App. 1002).
- Hauser entered pleas of guilty to OWI and leaving the scene of an accident causing serious injury. *Id.*

**B. Plaintiffs’ Statement of Facts Section, which is over 10 pages long, fails to acknowledge the above simple facts.**

Plaintiffs failed to respond to or dispute these facts. *Compare* Defendant’s Statement of Undisputed Facts *with* Plaintiffs’ Resistance to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment. The facts, as laid out in Defendant-Appellees’ Statement of Undisputed Facts (“SUMF”) are undisputed by operation of Iowa law.

The special relationship that existed between Defendant-Appellees, namely that of business and invitee, ended when D. Holly left the premises. No further extension of this relationship under these facts is found in the law.

**C. Plaintiffs filed no pleading disputing any facts at the District Court, nor offered any admissible evidence otherwise.**

Plaintiff-Appellants failed to resist the factual allegations at the District Court and failed to offer any evidence to the contrary as required. *See* Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3). The District Court properly granted summary judgment as there were no material facts in dispute. *See Hills Bank & Tr.*, 772 N.W.2d at 771.

Plaintiffs ignored their obligations under Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(5) to provide the District Court with competent evidence. Plaintiff-Appellants provided inadmissible police reports in an attempt to create a fact dispute. *See Herold v. Shagnasty's, Inc.*, No. 03-0894, 2004 WL 2002433, at \*5 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 9, 2004) (holding police reports to be inadmissible). The District Court properly considered only competent evidence in ruling on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* Order, at 7 ("Plaintiff has failed to set forth specific material facts, *as supported by competent evidence....*").

Even if these reports were admissible, they do not create a fact dispute. The injury occurred off of the premises and no condition or conditions of the premises caused Defendant-Appellees' injuries.

**III. WHATEVER DUTY J.P. PARKING OWED TO D. HOLLY — WHEN HE WAS LAWFULLY ON ITS PREMISES OR AFTER HE WAS ASKED TO LEAVE — WAS SATISFIED AFTER HOLLY EXITED ITS PREMISES UNINJURED.**

Defendant-Appellees have never argued that no duty was owed to D. Holly while D. Holly was a patron of the premises. Instead, Defendant-Appellees argument submits that the relationship between business and patron ended when D. Holly voluntarily left the premises.

Plaintiff-Appellants purposefully misstate and mischaracterize both Defendant-Appellees’ argument and the District Court’s Order in arguing that Defendant-Appellees previously claimed that “they owed no duty to Daulton Holly on the night of his death.” *See* Plaintiffs-Appellants Final Brief, at 25. Defendant-Appellees have not asked for a special carve out for entertainment businesses. Instead, Defendant-Appellees have always maintained that the special-relationship between business and patron, and duty existing therefrom, was extinguished when D. Holly voluntarily left the premises.

Defendant-Appellees submitted that Iowa law did not extend this relationship and duty into perpetuity. *See* Defendants’ Memorandum of Authorities in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, at 2 (Defendants “had no duty...after [Holly] voluntarily left Defendant’s

premises”) (App. 495); *id.* at 7 (Defendant’s duty to Holly did not continue “*after* he left the premises” (emphasis added) (App. 500); Transcript of Proceedings Motion for Summary Judgment, at 5 (“[T]here is no duty that defendants owed Daulton Holly *at the time of his injuries.*” (emphasis added) (App. 1070); *id.* at 6 (noting the duty was extinguished when “Daulton Holly voluntarily left the premises”) (App. 1071); *id.* at 7 (noting there was no duty “after [Holly] ceased to be a patron”) (App. 1072); Order on Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, at 4 (“[T]he duty owed to [Holly] was terminated.”) (App. 1089); *id.* at 5 (“[W]hen Holly voluntarily left the premises, that duty ceased.”) (App. 1090).

Defendant-Appellees have always maintained and argued that (1) a landowner/possessor owes a duty to lawful visitors; (2) a landowner/possessor owes a duty to a trespassers (if known)—albeit a lesser duty; (3) whether the duty Defendant-Appellees owed was the general duty of the lesser one, it was satisfied on these facts; (4) Plaintiff-Appellants seem unwilling to acknowledge that the *land* itself gives rise to the special relationship; and (5) the law necessarily ties duty owed to the land itself.

**A. A landowner/possessor owes a duty to a lawful visitor.**

As a preliminary issue, Plaintiff-Appellants were required to prove that Defendant-Appellees owed D. Holly a duty to be successful as to their negligence claim. *See Pitts v. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co.*, 818 N.W.2d 91, 98 (Iowa 2012) (“[a]n actionable claim of negligence requires the existence of a duty to conform to a standard of conduct to protect others) (quoting *Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829, 834 (Iowa 2009)).

Landowners or property possessors owe lawful visitors a duty of reasonable care with respect to:

- (a) conduct by the land possessor that creates risks to entrants *on the land*;
- (b) artificial conditions on the land that pose risks to entrants *on the land*;
- (c) natural conditions on the land that pose risks to entrants *on the land*; and
- (d) other risks to entrants *on the land* when any of the affirmative duties provided in Chapter 7 is applicable.

*Ludman v. Davenport Assumption High Sch.*, 895 N.W.2d 902, 910 (Iowa 2017) (quoting Restatement (Third) of Torts § 51, at 242 (Am. Law. Inst. 2012)) (emphases added).

To the extent the Court finds Holly to be a lawful visitor of Defendant-Appellant J.P. Parking, the duty owed to him is limited to those duties a business holding their land open to the public owes the patron *on the land*. D. Holly's injuries did not occur on the land.

**B. A landowner/possessor owes a duty to a trespasser—albeit a lesser duty.**

A landowner/possessor owes a lesser duty to trespassers, (1) to not to cause malicious injury; and (2) to use reasonable care to avoid injury once the landowner is aware of the trespasser. *See Alexander v. Med. Assocs. Clinic*, 646 N.W.2d 74, 75 (Iowa 2002). When a lawful visitor exceeds the scope of the invitation, or is no longer permitted to remain on the premises, the visitor becomes a trespasser. *See Morgan v. Perlowski*, 508 N.W.2d 724, 727 (Iowa 1993). No duty was breached. D. Holly was not injured on the premises.

**C. Whether the duty owed was the general duty or the lesser one, it was satisfied on these facts.**

Plaintiff-Appellants contend that because D. Holly was intoxicated when he voluntarily left the premises, that Defendant-Appellees relationship and duty owed to D. Holly should be increased and extended until Defendant-Appellees “transfer[ed] [ ] [D. Holly] to another, to someone else who's taking responsibility for them.” *See MSJ Hearing*

Transcript 10:18-20 (App. 1075). This custodial argument fails and will be addressed in more detail below.

Plaintiff-Appellants have not alleged that D. Holly was injured on the premises. Plaintiff-Appellants do not claim that an instrumentality originating from the premises injured D. Holly. Plaintiff-Appellants do not even claim that a third-party criminal act caused D. Holly's injury on the premises. Instead, Plaintiff-Appellants' claim has always been that D. Holly walked away from the premises and was injured on a public highway a half-mile away and approximately an hour after leaving the premises.

**D. Plaintiffs seem unwilling to acknowledge that the *land* itself is what gives rise to the “special relationship” here.**

Plaintiff-Appellants' theory of liability is simple: Because D. Holly was on Defendant-Appellees premises last, they should be responsible for D. Holly even after D. Holly has voluntarily left the premises. The harm Plaintiff-Appellants ask Defendant-Appellees to protect D. Holly from was not a condition of the premises, but instead, from D. Holly himself *after* Holly had voluntarily left the premises.

The duty owed by a business holding their premises open to the public are owed to those “on the premises.” *See* Restatement (Third) of Torts: Phys. & Emot. Harm § 40 (2012) (“a business or other possessor of land that holds its premises open to the public with those who are lawfully *on the premises*”) (emphasis added). This duty is limited to “the scope of the relationship.” *Id.* Once a patron has left the premises, the relationship and any duty owed is extinguished. *See* Restatement (Third) of Torts: Phys. & Emot. Harm § 40 cmt. f (2012) (“this Section imposes no affirmative duty on a common carrier to a person who left the vehicle and is no longer a passenger. Similarly, an innkeeper is ordinarily under no duty to a guest who is injured or endangered while off the premises.”).

A special relationship, such as that between a business owner and a lawful visitor, can be severed by the latter’s departure from the premises. *Brenneman v. Stuelke*, 654 N.W.2d 507, 509–10 (Iowa 2002) (surveying Iowa cases that hold “[o]nce a person leaves the land or remains without consent, the individual loses the status of ‘licensee,’ and the affirmative duty of the land possessor to control the individual’s conduct would cease”). Iowa courts have long recognized that any special relationship between a lawful visitor will not operate in perpetuity, and

will eventually terminate. *Davis v. Kwik-Shop, Inc.*, 504 N.W.2d 877, 879 (Iowa 1993). The adoption of the Restatement Third of Torts has not changed this analysis.

**E. Because the land is what gives rise to the “special relationship,” the law necessarily ties duty owed to the land itself.**

Under Iowa law, the only duty owed to D. Holly arises from the following – “a business or other possessor of land that holds its premises open to the public with those who are *lawfully on the premises.*” See *Hoyt v. Gutterz Bowl & Lounge L.L.C.*, 829 N.W.2d 772, 776 (Iowa 2013) (quoting Restatement (Third) Torts: Liab. for Physical & Emotional Harm § 40(b)(3)).

The Restatement (Third) specifies that the duty owed applies to “risks that arise within the scope of the relationship.” See *id.* § 40(a). This affirmative duty is tied to the existence and scope of the special relationship. In this case, the relationship flows from the D. Holly’s presence on the business land.

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